IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC95506

FOURTH DISTRICT CASE NO. 97-2256

CEDRIC FRASER,

Petitioner/Appellant

v.

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF HIGHWAY SAFETY AND MOTOR VEHICLES,

| Respondent/Appellee. | |
|----------------------|---|
| | / |

BRIEF ON THE MERITS AND APPENDIX ON REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

CARL H. LIDA, ESQUIRE

Counsel for Petitioner/Appellant 8751 West Broward Boulevard Suite 305 Plantation, Florida 33324

Telephone: (954) 472-5001 Florida Bar No.: 200700

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

The type size and style in which this brief appears is 14 point Times New Roman.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This litigation began on June 15, 1993 when O.K. Murph McNaughton, who is the stepson of Cedric Fraser, was stopped for speeding by Trooper Van Leer of the Florida Highway Patrol for speeding (R5-17). After arousing Trooper Van Leer's suspicion, a drug dog was brought in to search Murph McNaughton's car. The dog alerted the trooper to money hidden in the bumper of the car. Pursuant to the alert, Trooper Van Leer seized \$41,500 from the car. After the seizure of this money, but before any notice was sent to any person involved in this case, and before any publication, Cedric Fraser, through counsel, made a claim for this money (R18).

Cedric Fraser, the claimant in this case, demanded through counsel an adversary preliminary hearing and received one on July 16, 1993. Fraser filed his affidavit claiming the money seized belonged to him¹ (R18 and R48-50). At that time, no motion was filed by the state to strike Cedric Fraser's claim for the money nor was an objection raised about his standing.

A hearing was held before the Honorable Marvin Mounts based on Trooper Van Leer's affidavit of probable cause (R13-17). Judge Mounts found probable cause for the litigation to continue, but wrote on the order "This is a very close case"

Although the Florida forfeiture statute outlines no procedure for claimants to follow in making a claim.

and needs another hearing." (R48-50)

During the next year, the parties engaged in discovery and no new evidence was turned up. At the deposition, the claimant initially denied knowledge as to how the money got into the bumper of the car and then testified under oath that he put the money in the right front bumper of the car (R220-264). During the course of Mr. Fraser's deposition he exercised his right to decline to answer certain questions of the Department by invoking his Fifth Amendment privilege.²

On December 21, 1994, the claimant moved for summary judgment (R126-145). The Florida Highway Patrol never moved for summary judgment nor did they contest the claimant's standing in the case. The claimant's motion was granted on February 13, 1995 (R147-151). The Florida Highway Patrol appealed the granting of the motion. The Fourth District Court reversed the granting of summary judgment and remanded the case back to the trial court for further proceedings.³ At all times pertinent to this litigation, Cedric Fraser has maintained he was the lawful owner of the seized currency. Not until the pretrial stipulation of the parties was the issue of standing raised by the Florida Highway Patrol. In their pleadings they contended this issue was

See the Fourth District Opinion for a discussion of these facts.

³ (Fraser One) <u>State of Florida</u>, <u>Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles v. Cedric Fraser</u>, 673 So.2d 570 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

an issue of fact to be decided at trial (R205-215). At no time has the Department ever filed a motion for summary judgment or have they moved to strike Cedric Fraser's claim.

On the eve of trial, after pretrial stipulations had been entered the court issued a ruling denying Claimant Cedric Fraser standing to go forward (R216-219). This resulted in Fraser appealing to the Fourth District (Fraser Two). The Fourth District Court of Appeal issued its Opinion on February 17, 1999 remanding back to the trial court for what they determined was a standing hearing. This court then granted discretionary *certiorari* on March 6, 2000, and these briefs follow.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is the appellant's position in this case that the Florida Supreme Court should set down a rule of law governing standing in currency forfeiture cases to allow liberal access to the courts. These rules should be in accordance with the principals of due process and the Florida Constitution.

This court should allow claimants in currency forfeiture cases to have liberal access to the courts by allowing claimants to have standing to litigate these cases upon a colorable claim of ownership. To do otherwise would effectively shift the burden of proof from the state of Florida to the claimants.

By adopting this rule of standing, the court would align itself with the Arizona Supreme Court, the Illinois Supreme Court, and the federal Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals.

This would achieve the objective of allowing liberal access to the courts of this state by injured parties and at the same time prevent frivolous claims.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THE INSTANT CASE RADICALLY ALTERS THE JURISPRUDENCE OF FORFEITURE BY SHIFTING THE BURDEN OF PROOF TO THE CLAIMANT THROUGH AN UNWARRANTED EXPANSION OF THE REQUIREMENTS OF STANDING

Prior to the decision of the Fourth District in the instant case, it had been the law of this state that the burden of proving property seized for forfeiture had been derived from or involved in unlawful activity was squarely upon the state. Prior to the decision of the Fourth District in the instant case, it had been the law of this state that a demonstration of standing was required solely to insure only aggrieved parties, that is persons who had suffered a genuine injury, be afforded access to the courts to remedy an injury or make them whole. Sweetwater Country Club Homeowners Association, Inc. v. The Huskey Company, 613 So.2d 936 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) and Brasfield and Gorrie General Contractor, Inc. v. Ajax Construction Company, Inc. of Tallahassee, 627 So.2d 1200 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). But the decision of the Fourth District in this case has changed all that.

Under the decision in Fraser, it is no longer sufficient for a claimant to demonstrate he is the owner of certain property to contest its seizure by the state. Now, in order to be entitled to contest the seizure of his property, he must first "**prove his**"

bona fide interest" in the property which requires the claimant to provide evidence proving the "sources from which the money or other intangible property may have originated, such as employment, business ventures, loans, gifts, and the like." Cedric Fraser v. Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles, 727 So.2d 1021 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999).

The Fourth District's opinion impermissibly shifts the burden of proof from the state of Florida to the claimant and is contrary to this court's decision in <u>Department of Law Enforcement v. Real Property</u>, 588 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1991), and the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Alonzo Munoz v. The City of Coral Gables</u>, 695 So.2d 1283 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1997). In <u>Department of Law Enforcement</u>, this court stated forfeitures are "considered harsh extractions and are not favored at either law or equity. Thus forfeiture statutes must be strictly construed." <u>Id. Munoz v. City of Coral Gables</u>, <u>Id.</u>, would only require a sworn statement of ownership in order to contest forfeiture proceedings.⁴

Moreover, placing this burden on a claimant to establish standing to litigate the government's taking of his or her property runs contrary to due process considerations of both the United States Constitution and the Florida Constitution. The basic due

This approach would overrule the Fourth District decision in <u>City of Fort Lauderdale v. Baruch</u>, 718 So.2d 843 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), which required different levels of proof of standing at the various stages of the proceeding.

process guarantee of the Florida Constitution provides "[n]o person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law" Article 1, Section 9, Florida Constitution. Forfeiture proceedings have been held by this court and by federal courts to include constitutional protections, such as Fourth Amendment protection, One 1958 Plymouth Sedan v. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 85 S.Ct. 1246, 14 L.Ed.2d 170, 380 U.S. 693 (1965); Eighth Amendment, excessive fines and penalties, Austin v. United States, 113 S.Ct. 2801, 125 L.Ed.2d 488, 61 U.S. LW 4811 (1993); Fifth Amendment protection, United States v. United States Coin and Currency, 91 S.Ct. 1041, 28 L.Ed. 2d 434, 401 U.S. 715 (1971).

The very issue before this court was discussed by the federal Fifth Circuit Court of Appeal, wherein the court observed;

The court in <u>United States v. One 18th Century Colombian Monstrance</u>, 797 F.2d 1370 (5th Cir. 1986), *cert. denied sub nom.*, <u>Newton v. United States</u>, 481 U.S. 1014 (1987), states: Standing ... is literally a threshold question for entry into a federal court.... A claimant need not prove the merit of his underlying claim, but he must be able to show at least a <u>facially colorable interest in the proceedings</u> to satisfy the case-or-controversy requirement...<u>Id.</u> At 1374 (quoting <u>Warth v. Seldin</u>, 422 U.S. 490, 518 (1975)) (footnotes omitted) (emphasis added).⁵

Because claimants in currency forfeiture cases still have the ultimate burden to

⁵ United States v. \$321,470.00, 874 F.2d 298 (5th Cir. 1989).

establish their innocent ownership provided the state meets their burden of proof by clear and convincing evidence. There is no reason to accelerate this issue and add it to the claimants' initial burden to establish their standing. To do so would effectively shift the burden of proof from the state of Florida to the claimant. <u>United States v. One Hundred and Thirty-Four Thousand, Seven Hundred and Fifty-Two Dollars United States Currency</u>, 706 F.Supp. 1075 (S.D.N.Y. 1989).

The claimant respectfully suggests the threshold issue of standing should follow the approach outlined in <u>Munoz v. The City of Coral Gables</u>, <u>Id.</u>, by requiring a claimant to sign a sworn affidavit alleging to be the lawful owner of the currency in question.

In cases where a person has possession of the money, or the money is found in a person's home, the attending facts and circumstances would support a colorable claim to the currency if the claimant signed a sworn affidavit making claim to the money.

In the case before the court, the surrounding and attendant circumstances were Cedric Fraser's stepson had the money seized from a car he had been driving that had previously been in Fraser's garage. Fraser immediately signed a sworn affidavit claiming the money was lawfully his before any notice of seizure was published by the Department. These facts support Fraser's standing in the case before the court.

Since forfeitures are not favored at law or equity it can be said the government,

whether state or federal, has virtually no interest in the property seized. Only the legislature has afforded the government an interest if, and only if, the appropriate standard of proof can be met in the respective jurisdiction.⁶

The state of Florida and the courts below took issue with Fraser's invocation of the Fifth Amendment as to where he had obtained the funds and how he obtained the funds. Where Fraser obtained the funds and how he obtained the funds had nothing to do with the issue of standing. In Wohlstrom v. Buchanan, 884 P.2d 687 (Nov. 1994), the Supreme Court of Arizona in a case remarkably similar to this, upheld a claimant's right to contest the litigation when the claimant filed a sworn affidavit indicating the money was his and he had acquired possession of the money earlier in the day in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

In reversing the trial court, the Arizona Supreme Court ruled a party claiming the Fifth Amendment privilege should suffer no penalty for his silence. The court went on to rule Wohlstrom should be given standing to litigate his claim and proper safeguards to avoid frivolous claims had been met.

Ultimately, if the Florida Highway Patrol meets its burden of proof in this case to get past a directed verdict by clear and convincing evidence, the burden will be on

The standard in the federal court is probable cause and the standard in our state court is clear and convincing evidence.

Fraser to establish his innocent ownership of said funds, if he chooses to do so.

If this court were to adopt the Fourth District's approach to standing, the state of Florida could take a person's currency from his or her pocket (assuming a dog alerted to the currency)⁷ and say to them, unless you tell us where and how you got this money, we are not going to give you standing to try and get it back. This runs contrary to the purpose of forfeiture statutes, to basic constitutional due process, and to the constitutional protections afforded to claimants in forfeiture matters. This clearly shifts the burden of proof from the state to the claimant merely to establish his standing, thus, denying free and liberal access to the courts to claimants in this situation.

If the state feels a claimant is filing a frivolous claim, the burden should be on the state of Florida to come forward with sufficient facts and circumstances to show the court the claim should be stricken. Otherwise, the litigation should go forward and the state of Florida should be put to its burden of proof; to hold otherwise would lead to absurd results.

This court can follow the procedure established by the Supreme Court of Illinois

See <u>United States v. \$53,082</u>, 985 F.2d 245 (6th Cir. 1993). The appellate panel cited a 1989 study by Lee Hern, Chief Toxicologist of Dade County, Florida, finding 97% of larger denomination bills tested positive for cocaine. Also see, <u>United States v. \$30,060</u>, 39 F.3d 1039 (9th Cir. 1994) where the Ninth Circuit indicated 75% of all currency in the Los Angeles area is tainted with residue of cocaine or some other controlled substance.

when faced with an identical issue now before the court, and rule that the state could not strike the claimant's claim merely because he relied on his Fifth Amendment privilege, and it is the state's burden to challenge the claimant's standing to contest the forfeiture. The People of the State of Illinois v. \$1,124,905 U.S. Currency and One 1988 Chevrolet Astro Van, 685 N.E.2d 1370 (1997). Thus, if the state feels a frivolous claim is being made, they can attack it by a motion for summary judgment or motions to dismiss or strike at an early stage of the proceedings.⁸

The Florida Highway Patrol, by way of its pretrial stipulation, contended to the trial court that whether or not Cedric Fraser had a "proprietary interest" in the funds sought to be forfeited was an issue of fact for a jury's determination. (R216-219)

The issue of Fraser's proprietary interest, to wit, his innocent ownership, is one of the ultimate issues of fact before the court in a forfeiture proceeding. The Department is correct in asserting innocent ownership is an issue for the finder of fact. However, it is not necessary for the claimant to prove his innocent ownership to establish standing. See In re: Forfeiture of Approximately \$19,050.00 in U.S.

It should be noted, no motion for summary judgment was ever made by the state of Florida or was any motion ever filed by the state of Florida contesting the claimant's standing in this case.

The other, of course, is whether or not the state has met its burden of proof by clear and convincing evidence.

<u>Currency</u>, 519 So.2d 1134 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), wherein the Fifth District ruled that even if the trial court did not believe the claimant's story, she was entitled to have it heard at trial. "While the trial court may not have believed her story, or disbelieved that she was the owner of the currency, these were issues to be decided at trial, see Williams v. Miller, 433 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983)."

To summarize, the claimant is suggesting to this court that it adopt a procedure for establishing standing in currency forfeiture cases that allows liberal access to the courts of this state in keeping with the principals of due process. Claimant should be required to state under oath the money is his and he is entitled to its return. The court could then look to the surrounding facts and circumstances of each case to determine under a broad view of standing whether or not the claimant has made a "colorable" claim to the currency or whether or not the state has filed motions to dismiss the claim as being frivolous for lack of standing under these circumstances. If the claimant has made a colorable claim, the litigation should go forward.

Innocent ownership of currency is different than standing to make a claim. One involves proof at trial, the other only gives access to the courts of this state.

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, the claimant respectfully submits to this honorable court he has

standing. The standard this court should adopt for standing in currency forfeiture cases is one of only a colorable claim to the funds at issue. This should be broadly construed in accordance with the principals of due process and Florida's Constitution.

This would allow free access to the courts of Florida without accelerating the burden of proof to be placed on claimants just to allow them access to Florida courts.