IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC95506

CEDRIC FRASER.,

Petitioner,

vs.

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF HIGHWAY SAFETY AND MOTOR VEHICLES.,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida CHARLES M. FAHLBUSCH Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0191948 Office of the Attorney General 110 S.E. Sixth Street, 10th Floor Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 712-4600

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court did not reversibly err in ruling that simply stating, "the money belongs to me" is insufficient to establish standing to contest a forfeiture action. The issue is one for preliminary determination by the trial judge, numerous cases have held that evidence was insufficient to establish standing where it would have supported a statement such as, "the money belongs to me" and the Florida Supreme Court has held that, in order to establish standing, a claimant must establish that he or she has a bona fide interest in the seized property. Further, to hold otherwise would permit anyone off the street to demand, and be entitled to, a jury trial by simply stating that the seized money was his and would certainly, as the District Court noted, encourage fraudulent transfers.

The burden to establish standing lies squarely on the claimant and, in this case, the claimant failed to meet it.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY RULED THAT CEDRIC FRASER HAD FAILED TO ESTABLISH HIS STANDING TO CONTEST THE FORFEITURE IN THE CIRCUIT COURT WHERE HE HAD DONE NOTHING MORE THAN STATE THAT THE MONEY, "BELONGS TO ME." (Restated).

The position of the Petitioner is that, once intangible property is seized, anyone can file a sworn statement saying, simply, "the property belongs to me" and force a jury trial on the issue by doing nothing else. The law does not support the Petitioner's position.

A. Does Anyone Who Says, "The Money Belongs to Me" have standing?

The trial court and district court properly found that simply stating, "the money belongs to me" is insufficient to establish standing to contest a forfeiture action. (R. 265). Indeed, to hold otherwise is to open the door to numerous potential claimants who have no connection with the seized contraband involved and who may require the seizing agency to prove every element of a forfeiture action by clear and convincing evidence at a jury trial [required by § 932.704(3), Florida Statutes (1999), unless waived in writing or on the record by the claimant], by simply stating, "the money belongs to me." It is respectfully submitted that such could not have been the intent of

the legislature. Therefore, the position of the Petitioner is incorrect, on this issue and the district court should be affirmed.

The Petitioner's first argument in support of his position is that requiring a claimant to establish standing before trial, "impermissibly shifts the burden of proof to the claimant . . ." allegedly contrary to Department of Law Enforcement v. Real Property, 588 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1991) and Alonzo Munoz v. The City of Coral Gables, 695 So. 2d 1283 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997). (Brief of Petitioner, 6). He alleges that requiring a claimant to establish standing before the forfeiture Plaintiff has proven its case is in violation of due process considerations of the United States and Florida Constitutions. (Brief of Petitioner, 6-7). Therefore, according to Petitioner, making standing a threshold requirement violates the Constitution. According to this Court, however, there is a, "threshold requirement that only persons who have standing can participate in a judicial proceeding." Byrom v. Gallagher at 26. The Petitioner claims, it is unconstitutional to determine if a potential claimant has standing until the Plaintiff has met its initial burden at trial. (Brief of Petitioner, 6-7). Therefore, according to the Petitioner, the threshold requirement cannot be determined until the close of evidence. Stated otherwise, whether or not a potential claimant has a right to participate in a proceeding may not be required to be established until the end of the proceeding. This reasoning, along with being logically indefensible, is in direct violation of the primary

case on which the Petitioner relies:

It is undisputed and established that to contest a forfeiture action, a party must first demonstrate an interest in the seized property sufficient to satisfy **the court** of the party's status as a claimant. See Byrom v. Gallagher, 609 So. 2d 24, 26 (Fla. 1992) (only persons who have standing can participate in a judicial proceeding); see also In re Forfeiture of One 40' Fiberglass Boat White in Color with Black Bottom, Florida Registration FL 0346EM, Hull No. *Per 40014M1C*, 453 So. 2d 207, 208 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) (court declined to entertain issues regarding whether crime was committed and whether the property seized was utilized during commission of crime where no appeal was taken of lower court's finding that claimant had no ownership interest in property); In re Forfeiture of a Cessna 401 Aircraft, N8428F, 431 So. 2d 674, 675 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), rev. denied, 444 So. 2d 416 (Fla. 1984) (court declined to address claimant's constitutional issues "because the claim of standing . . . is so vacuous as to preclude such consideration."); United States v. Twenty Cashier's Checks, Having the Aggregate Value of Two Hundred Thousand Dollars in U.S. Currency, 897 F.2d 1567, 1571 (11th Cir. 1990); United States v. Five Hundred Thousand Dollars, 730 F.2d 1437, 1439 (11th Cir. 1984) ("[A] party seeking to challenge the government's forfeiture of money or property used in violation of federal law must first demonstrate an interest in the seized item sufficient to satisfy the court of its standing to contest the forfeiture."). The burden of establishing standing in a forfeiture proceeding rests squarely with the claimants to the seized property. See In re Forfeiture of 1983 Wellcraft Scarab, 487 So. 2d 306, 309 (Fla. 4th DCA, cause dismissed, 494 So. 2d 1150 (Fla. 1986). (emphasis added).

Munoz v. City of Coral Gables, 695 So. 2d 1283, 1286-87 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997).

As the Fourth District has held, "The burden of establishing standing in forfeiture proceedings is on the claimant." Forfeiture of 1983 Wellcraft Scarab, 487 So. 2d 306, 309 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), cause dismissed, 494 So. 2d 1150 (Fla. 1986). "The claimant in a forfeiture action bears the burden of showing that he owns or has an interest in the forfeited property." United States v. \$20,193.39 U.S. Currency, 16 F.3d 344, 346 (9th Cir. 1994). Indeed, in a case relied upon by Petitioner, the Court noted, "Standing ... is literally a threshold question for entry into a federal court', because of the constitutional limitation of federal court jurisdiction to cases and controversies. (footnote omitted) 'This Circuit has held that the burden of establishing standing to contest a forfeiture is on the claimant seeking to come before the court." <u>U.S. v.</u> <u>\$321,470.00, U.S. Currency</u>, 874 F.2d 298, 302 (5th Cir. 1989). Thus, the driver of the truck in which the money was found, who had disclaimed ownership and said that he was transporting the money for someone else, whose identity he could not or would not reveal, was found not to have standing to contest the forfeiture. Id. Clearly, physical possession of the currency, alone, is not enough to establish standing, according to the cases relied upon by the Petitioner.

B. The Authorities Relied Upon by Petitioner do not Establish his Position.

Petitioner suggests that nothing more should be required than an affidavit stating ownership, allegedly in accord with <u>Munoz</u>. There are a number of problems with this

position. First, nothing in <u>Munoz</u> holds that such an affidavit is sufficient. It involved a claimant from whose residence some \$85,803.00 was seized. He told the police that it was his money, but he didn't have any receipts for it because he conducts all his business matters using checks and not cash. He requested an adversarial preliminary hearing by letter of counsel and filed an unsworn general claim to the money with the

Court. The Court stated:

We also reject Munoz's argument that his standing was established by the allegations of the police contained in the City's verified complaint. Apart from the fact that Munoz, and not the seizing agency, has the specific burden of affirmatively establishing his standing, we first of all do not find Munoz's mere possession of the currency to be legally determinative of his possessory and/or ownership interest in the same. See In re: Forfeiture of Approximately \$19,050.00 in U.S. Currency, 519 So.2d at 1135. We similarly do not find Munoz's unsworn oral statements to the seizing officers that the money was his to be sufficient to establish his standing to contest his proceeding. At a bare minimum, we conclude that a claimant to seized currency must come forward with sworn proof of a possessory and/or ownership interest in the same to acquire standing to contest the forfeiture proceeding.

Thus, where Munoz failed to meet his burden of proving his standing, we find that the trial court correctly concluded that he had waived his right to an adversarial preliminary hearing. Moreover, based upon the undisputed allegations of the verified complaint, we find that the court correctly determined that the City had probable cause or reasonable grounds to believe that the currency had been used in the manner proscribed by Chapter 893, Florida Statutes (1995). For these reasons, we affirm the order under review.

<u>Munoz v. City of Coral Gables</u>, 695 So.2d 1283, 1287-88 (Fla. 3 Dist. 1997)

It is respectfully submitted that finding that a claimant from whose possession

currency was seized did not have standing because he had not even presented a

sworn statement is not equivalent to holding that such a statement would be

sufficient when presented by a person never shown to have had possession of the

seized currency.

Second, the Munoz case, as the Fourth District noted, involved the standing

requirement at an adversarial preliminary hearing, not the actual forfeiture

proceeding. See Fraser, 727 So. 2d at 1025, n. 2.

Third, Petitioner's position totally ignores this Court's language in <u>Byrom v.</u>

Gallagher, in which it stated:

We recognize that relying solely on title registration or compliance with the title requirements in order to grant standing may result in some persons attempting fraudulent transfers in order to avoid a forfeiture. Consequently, in determining whether a person has standing the trial judge should consider: 1) whether that person holds legal title at the time of the forfeiture hearing or has complied with the requirements for receiving title; and 2) whether that person is in fact a bona fide purchaser. The trial judge should consider the facts surrounding the sale to determine whether the transfer is in fact a bona fide purchase. The relationship of the parties, the date the instruments were executed, the value of the property, the sale price, and cancelled checks or bank deposits to show actual payment and receipt of money are all factors which the trial court should consider in determining whether the transfer is a bona fide purchase. This list is not intended to be exhaustive but rather illustrative of the consideration to be made by the trial judge. In making the determination

whether a title holder is also a bona fide purchaser, the trial judge should be able to sift the wheat from the chaff.

³ We note that this decision is limited to property which the State has required that a person have a title or compliance with title requirements to show ownership. Thus, a party would only have to show that he or she is a bona fide purchaser where the seized property is not subject to the State's title laws.

Byrom v. Gallagher, 609 So.2d 24, 26-7 (Fla. 1992).

However, Petitioner claims that being required to show that the claimant has a

bona fide interest, as stated by this Court, is improper and unconstitutional, albeit

without any authorities which support such a position. (Brief of Petitioner, 6-8).

This Court's concern, expressed in **Byrom**, to discourage fraudulent transfers in

order to avoid a forfeiture is even more applicable to cash than titled property.

Should Petitioner's position be adopted, drug dealers would be strongly motivated,

if their cash was seized, to transfer ownership to a potential claimant with a

comparatively clean criminal record in return for a substantial percentage of the recovered funds. Then, the transferee could make the claim, saying, "the money belongs to me," and refuse to answer any further questions about it based upon the Fifth Amendment. Thus, fraudulent transfers of properly seized currency would be strongly encouraged, resulting in a substantial increase in cases like this one, where the simple statement, "the money belongs to me," without more, would require a full jury trial to resolve. The situation which this Court was attempting to avoid by its decision in <u>Byrom</u> would be strongly stimulated if the Petitioner's position is adopted.

Petitioner's contention that the situation in this case is remarkably similar to <u>Wohlstrom v. Buchanan</u>, 884 P.2d 687 (Az. 1994) and <u>The People of the State of</u> <u>Illinois v. \$1,124,905 U.S. Currency and One 1988 Chevrolet Astro Van</u>, 685 N.E. 2d 1370 (Ill. 1997) (Brief of Petitioner, 9-11) disappears under analysis.. The claimant in <u>Wohlstrom</u> asserted he owned the currency in question, gave the date and place that he had acquired it and the funds were seized directly from his possession. <u>Id.</u> He did assert his Fifth Amendment privilege as to other circumstances surrounding its acquisition. <u>Id.</u> Here, of course, the Petitioner did not give the date and place of his acquisition and the funds were not seized from his he was a bona fide purchaser of the funds concerned, he may well have established that he had a bona fide interest in them, where there were no other claimants.

The Court in the Illinois case, relying on Illinois law, noted that any standing requirement must be imposed by statute and that, "the Act does not place any initial burden on a claimant to prove his interest in the property." <u>\$1,124,905 in U.S.</u> <u>Currency</u> at 1378. Thus, a default judgment entered on behalf of the State on the grounds that the potential claimant had no standing to Answer was required to be reversed. This situation contrasts nicely with § 932.701(2)(h) Florida Statutes (1992 Supp.) Which states:

(h) "Claimant" means any party who has proprietary interest in property subject to forfeiture and has standing to challenge such forfeiture, including owners, registered owners, bona fide lienholders, and titleholders.

Thus it is understandable why, in <u>Munoz</u>, a finding that the potential claimant had failed to establish his standing at the preliminary hearing was affirmed. Indeed, this Court's determination that only persons who have standing can participate in a judicial proceeding [in <u>Byrom</u> at 26] would be meaningless if the issue couldn't be determined until the proceeding had taken place. Further, the funds in the Illinois case were seized from a stranded van that the claimant and his family were with. Rather clearly, both the applicable law and the facts are distinguishable from the

situation here.

A number of states have no difficulty requiring that a claimant show a bona fide interest in the seized property. For example, in <u>Tuggle v. State</u>, 480 S.E. 2d 353 (Ga. App. 1997), the State seized currency and a cellular phone found on Tuggle's body and Tuggle filed a verified claim of ownership, alleging that the seized funds represented money saved by the claimant from numerous jobs. The trial court found that Tuggle had failed to establish that he was the owner or interest holder of the currency and the appellate court agreed, noting that Tuggle's Answer had failed to specify the date, identity of the transferor and circumstances of acquisition, as required by the Georgia statute to establish standing. Id. The inability to describe the packaging accurately or to show that he had the means to accumulate the approximately \$45,000 concerned supported the decision of the Commissioner that the claimant had not substantiated his claim of ownership to the seized money at a hearing on pretrial motions in Jones v. Greene, 946 S.W. 2d 817 (Tenn. App. 1996).

The authorities relied upon by Fraser simply do not support his position.

C. Petitioner's Position is Inapplicable and Unworkable.

Mr. Fraser urges this Court to adopt a position holding that, "[i]n cases where a person has possession of the money, or the money is found in a persons home, the attending facts and circumstances would support a colorable claim to the currency if the claimant signed a sworn affidavit making claim to the money." (Brief of Petitioner, 8). However, the first problem with this contention is that it has nothing to do with the situation in this case. The cash, in this case, was not seized from the Petitioner's home or possession, it was seized from the bumper of a car that the Petitioner didn't own, that wasn't registered to him, that he wasn't driving and that he wasn't riding in.

Second, it ignores other relevant facts and circumstances. For example, if cash was seized from Mr. A's home, but he told police that it wasn't his money, it belonged to Ms. B. Then, subsequently, after forfeiture was filed, Mr. A filed a claim stating that he claimed the money and Ms. B also filed such a claim, with documents showing the bank account it had been taken from. According to Petitioner, Mr. A's claim would have to be allowed. Indeed, all of the people who might claim that A and B owed them money would also have the right to be claimants in the forfeiture case if they filed the necessary "the money belongs to me" statement. If the forfeiture Plaintiff failed to show by clear and convincing evidence that the seized currency was contraband, would it then owe the full amount of the seized currency to all claimants? Petitioner's suggestion creates a likelihood of multiple claimants (including all the creditors of the owners or possessors of the money) and is unworkable, from a practical standpoint. It is respectfully submitted that the trial court must be granted sufficient discretion to determine who is a bona fide claimant and who is not.

D. "It Belongs to me" is not enough.

The case law is replete with examples of cases in which persons who might well have filed affidavits saying, essentially, "the property belongs to me" were found not to have standing.

Two claimants, the parents of the person cash was seized from, claimed that they had given him the money to finance a joint venture in which he was to use the money to purchase used oil drilling bits for reconditioning and resale. The cash was seized from the son, who was negotiating, at the time, to buy eighty pounds of marijuana, an activity the parents contended they had no knowledge of. The trial court found that the parents had standing and were unaware of their son's illegal activity (although it found forfeiture warranted because they could have done more to prevent the proscribed use of the money). The appellate court affirmed the forfeiture on the ground that the claimants failed to establish a cognizable legal or equitable interest in the currency. <u>United States v. \$47,875.00 un U.S. Currency</u>, 746 F.2d 291 (5th Cir. 1984). The claimant in <u>United States v. Forty-Three Thousand, Five Hundred Twenty Dollars (\$43,520.00) in U.S. Currency</u>, 902 F.2d

29

1570 (6th Cir. 1990) (unpublished opinion) claimed that he had given the person the money was seized from \$42,500.00 of the money to take to a relative of his in New York. He testified that \$31,626.54 was from a workers compensation settlement and the rest from various sources, his and his wife's jobs and work he did on the side. The possessor of the money had said, when initially stopped at the airport, that he was a jewelry salesman and the money was the proceeds of sales. The trial court properly held that the claimant had no standing. People who hold checks against a forfeited bank account have no standing to contest the forfeiture of the account. United States v. Four Million, Two Hundred Fifty-Five Thousand, 762 F.2d 895 (11th Cir. 1985). A claimant who wired \$1.3 million to a person who falsely represented himself to be a Nigerian money exchanger was without standing to challenge the forfeiture of funds seized from various bank accounts belonging to the alleged exchanger. United States v. Moylan, 103 F.3d 121 (4th Cir. 1996) (unpublished opinion). A loan or gift of the money concerned essentially abdicates standing:

If Ms. Coluccio did indeed give or loan the money to Mr. Coluccio, then she would not have standing to contest the forfeiture of the cost bond. *United States v. Schwimmer*, 968 F.2d 1570, 1581 (2d Cir. 1992) (general creditors do not have sufficient interest to contest forfeiture); *United States v. \$280,505*, 655 F.Supp. 1487, 1495 (S.D. Fla. 1986) (mother who gave son the money to purchase

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